
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Agenda for the 

Allendale Charter Township Board Meeting 

Monday, April 12, 2021, 7:00pm 

Members Present: 

Members Absent: 

Guests Present: 

 
Meeting called to order  

 
 Invocation given by Adam Elenbaas 
 Pledge of Allegiance  
 Approve Agenda 
 Consent Agenda 

o Approval of the March 22, 2020 Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
o Bills 
o Interim Bills 

 For information 
o Financial Report 
o Minutes of the March 15, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 
o Deputy Clerk Notification and Appointment 

 Public Hearings 
 Public Comments 
 Guest Speakers  

o Department Head Update 
 Public Utilities 

• New Facilities Update 
o Department Head Update 

 Fire 
• 2020 Year End Report 

o New Fire Station Update 
 Construction Simplified 

 Action Items 
o Intern Hiring Recommendation 
o Community Coordinator Hiring Recommendation 
o Codification Services 
o Administrative Assistant Job Description 
o Seasonal Team Member Recommendations 

 Discussion Items 



 
 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

o Fire Station/Construction Simplified as Owner’s Rep 
 Public Comments 
 Board Comments 
 Future Agenda Items 
 Adjournment 

 
 
 

 

Our Wi-Fi connection may be used to access the Board Information Packet: 

• Account: ACT_Guest 
• Password: ACTguest 
• File location: www.allendale-twp.org  Agendas and Minutes  Agendas: Township Board 

 

http://www.allendale-twp.org/


Page 1 of 4 
 

PROPOSED 
PROCEEDINGS OF THE ALLENDALE 
TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MARCH SESSION- 2nd DAY 
 

The Allendale Township Board of Trustees met virtually, to comply with Michigan 
Department of Health and Human Services directives due to COVID-19, on 
Monday, March 22, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. and was called to order at 7:02 by Mr. 
Elenbaas. 
 
Present: Ms. Vander Veen; Mr. Murillo; Ms. Hansen; Mr. Zeinstra; Mr. 
Vander Wall; Ms. Kraker; and Mr. Elenbaas. (7) 
 
Absent: None (0) 
 
Staff and Guest Present: Bob Sullivan, Legal Counsel; Elizabeth Szymanski, 
Administrative Assistant; Margaret Wheeler, Library Advisory Board 
Member; Garry Murphy, Rotary Club Member; Kim Blum, Rotary Club 
Member; Cathy Schmidt; Jessica VanBlaricum-Miller; Mitch Kahle; Holly 
Huber; Jeanine Gasper; and Elaine Ebeling.  
 
Ms. Hansen pronounced the invocation. 
 
Mr. Elenbaas led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of 
America. 

 
BOT 21-039 Mr. Zeinstra moved to approve the agenda of today as presented. The 

motion passed. 
 

BOT 21-040 Ms. Kraker moved to approve the following Consent Resolutions: 
 

1. To approve the Minutes of the March 8, 2021 Board of Trustees meeting. 
 

2. To approve the general claims in the amount of $258,438.21 as presented 
by the summary report for March 10, 2021 – March 23, 2021. There were 
no interim payments. The motion passed.  

 
Items Received for Information 

 
1. Financial Report 



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
2. Minutes of the March 1, 2021 Planning Commission Meeting 

 
3. February Fire Activity Report 
 
4. February Sheriff’s Office Report 
 
5. Deputy of the Year: Deputy John Ortman 
 
6. Sheriff’s Emerging Leaders: Detective Schickinger 
 
7. Life Saving Award: Deputy Travis Schippers 

 
Public Hearings- None 
 
Public Comments and Communications 
 
Comments were received from: 
1. Jessica VanBlaricum-Miller, Allendale 
2. Holly Huber, Muskegon 
3. Mitch Kahle, Muskegon 
4. Jeanine Gasper, Allendale 
5. Several other members of the public who did not disclose name and resident 

information. 
 
BOT 21-041 Mr. Elenbaas moved to close public comment. The motion passed. 

 
Guest Speakers 
 
Garry Murphy, Rotary Club Member; and Kim Blum, Rotary Club Member; 
provided an overview of the planning for Concerts in the Park for the 2021 
season. Rotary requests an increase from six to ten concerts as long as the 
established budget of $3200.00 allows. They introduced different ideas of 
coordinating 50/50 Raffle, Rotary donation box, and inviting food trucks to be 
available during the concerts. Some board members indicated they would like to 
investigate sponsorship opportunities to financially support Concerts in the Park 
rather than it being funded by the township in the future. Several board members 
had various questions. Board members indicated their support for the increased 
number of concerts as long as the cost complies with the approved budget. 
Rotary will continue with booking the entertainment and Ms. Hansen will update 
the board on Concert in the Park planning progress at future board meetings.   

 



Page 3 of 4 
 

 Action Items 
 
BOT 21-042 Ms. Vander Veen moved to approve the hiring of Mary Cook to fill the vacant 

Library Director position at a starting salary of $63,000.00. The motion 
passed.  

 
BOT 21-043 Ms. Hansen moved to approve the hiring of Jaxon Walker to fill the vacant 

Maintenance Operator position at a starting wage of $16.95 per hour, which 
will increase to $17.95 per hour after a successful orientation period. The 
motion passed.  

 
BOT 21-044 Mr. Vander Wall moved to approve and authorize the Clerk and Supervisor to 

sign Resolution 2021-05, authorizing the petition for maintenance and 
improvement of the Sevey Drain. The motion passed as shown by the 
following votes: 

 YEAS: Ms. Vander Veen, Mr. Murillo, Ms. Hansen, Mr. Zeinstra, Ms. Kraker, 
Mr. Vander Wall, and Mr. Elenbaas. (7) 

 NAYS: None (0) 
 
BOT 21-045 Ms. Vander Veen moved to approve and authorize the Clerk and Supervisor 

to sign Resolution 2021-06, adopting the parameters of the Veteran Garden 
of Honor Brick Donation Program with the suggested edits. The motion 
passed as shown by the following votes: 

 YEAS: Ms. Vander Veen, Mr. Murillo, Ms. Hansen, Mr. Zeinstra, Ms. Kraker, 
Mr. Vander Wall, and Mr. Elenbaas. (7) 

 NAYS: None (0) 
 
BOT 21-046 Mr. Vander Wall moved to approve the 2021 COVID PTO Extension and 

Revision. The motion passed.  
 
BOT 21-047 Mr. Vander Wall moved to approve the Deputy Clerk and Community 

Coordinator job descriptions with the suggested edits. The motion passed.  
 
BOT 21-048 Ms. Kraker moved to approve the Deputy Clerk and Community Coordinator 

salaries as outlined in said job descriptions. The motion passed.  
 

Discussion Items 
 
Ms. Hansen provided the board an overview of the proposed codification 



Page 4 of 4 
 

services. She explained what codification is and the benefits it will provide 
constituents of the township and the residents.  
 
Public Comments and Communications 

 
Comments were received from: 
1. Cathy Schmidt, Allendale 
2. Jessica VanBlaricum-Miller, Allendale 
3. Holly Huber, Muskegon 
4. Mitch Kahle, Muskegon 

 
BOT 21-049 Mr. Elenbaas moved to close public comment. The motion passed. 
 

 Board Comments: 
 
1. Mr. Vander Wall congratulated Deputy Ortman and Deputy Schippers for 

their Ottawa County Sheriff Office Awards.  

2. Mr. Murillo inquired about bricks that do not meet stipulations outlined 
in Resolution 2021-06 that are already installed in the Veterans Garden 
of Honor. Mr. Elenbaas clarified that Resolution 2021-06 does not apply 
to those bricks.   

3. Mr. Elenbaas addressed the public inquiry of federal stimulus funds that 
are to be issued to the township and explained it is likely the funds will 
not be received. He provided an update of the upcoming Internship 
interviews.   

  
BOT 21-050 Mr. Murillo moved to adjourn at 9:09 p.m. The motion passed. 
 
 
                            _________________________     _________________________ 

Jody L. Hansen, Clerk Adam Elenbaas, Supervisor 
Of the Township of Allendale Of the Township of Allendale 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

















ALLENDALE CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

March 15, 2021 

7:00 p.m. 

Via Zoom Software 

 

1. Meeting called to order 

2. Roll Call 

Present: Westerling, Adams, Zuniga, Schut, Kelley, Zeinstra, Longcore 

Staff Present: Greg Ransford 

Other Guests Present: Sara-Moring Hilt, Curtis Moran, Kelli McGovern, Kelly Kuiper, Miles 

Ulberg, Lora Richmond 

3. Received for information: No information received. 

4. Motion by Kelley to approve the March 1, 2021 meeting minutes. Seconded by Westerling. 

Approval 7-0 

5. Motion by Longcore recommending switching the order of new business and old business 

and to approve the March 15, 2021 Planning Commission Agenda. Seconded by Zeinstra. 

Approval 7-0 

6. Public Comments for non-public hearing items: 

Chairperson Longcore opened the public comment section for non-public hearing items. Kelli 

McGovern facilitated the public comments beginning with the callers, proceeding to 

participants using the web or app. Callers and participants were recognized, but no public 

comments were made. Chairperson Longcore closed the public comment section.  

7. Public Hearings: no public hearings were scheduled. 

8. New Business:  

a. 5015 Warner – Mining Application – 70-09-13-200-006 

Kelly Kuiper with Nederveld, on behalf of operator, Mr. Curtis Moran, briefed the 

Commission regarding the project of two small ponds, each 4.9 acres with a total sand 

volume of over 250,000 cubic yards mined through traditional methods. The proposed 

time frame and request for the project is five years. Ms. Kuiper also reiterated that the 

haul route was as close as possible to the proposed truck haul route. 

 

Ms. Kuiper stated they would be addressing some clerical errors from a previous 

Township memo and brought two items before the Commission needing approval: 

• Proposal of 50 ft of crushed concrete vs. asphalt at the construction access road. 

• Deferment on a sidewalk until the road is paved. 

In addition, Ms. Kuiper referred to the Road Commission letter of credit or performance 

bond previously recommended by Mr. Jody Carter for a performance bond in the 

amount of $40,000 per mile. Ms. Kuiper noted there would be 1-1/4 miles until they 

reached the pavement. She stated that Mr. Moran and Mr. Carter were currently 

working on a permitting mechanism concerning mining operations on dirt roads to 

ensure there would be a way to satisfactorily maintain the road. 



Mr. Adams inquired about the ground water being managed during excavation, and Mr. 

Moran explained the water shed sloping downward and water running into the bayou, 

as well as the clay layer with the moorings. He assured the Commission that they would 

have adequate means to excavate and provide ample soil for future construction. In 

addition, he addressed how the County was working with the applicant. He also 

addressed the miscommunication that led to noise concerns of starting up equipment 

too early along the road and explained they have requested the trucks not to line up 

until 7:10 a.m. on weekdays and 8:10a.m. on weekends. He also agreed to amend the 

posted sign indicating to call the specified number for dispatch to handle any 

complaints immediately. 

Ms. Kuiper addressed Ms. Vandenberg’s letter discussing that the rear and behind the 

lots was not accessible unless a private drive was provided along the easement in 

addition to the access at the road, which was something that could be completed.  

Mr. Schut maintained his concern about the layout of the development and the splits of 

the lots and opposed setting a public hearing,  

Chairperson Longcore recommended scheduling a public hearing barring there were no 

anticipated major changes to the site plans. Ms. Kuiper confirmed any possible changes 

would be minor.  

Discussion occurred among the Commissioners regarding methods of public notice, and 

it was determined that there was ample notification to the public according to the 

Township ordinances. Commissioners agreed a public hearing could be set, and 

Chairperson Longcore thanked the applicants. 

9. Old Business: 

A. Work Program  

1.  Section 3.19 – Tree Preservation Language 

Planner Ransford summarized for the public an ordinance adopted by Park Township in 

Ottawa County that the Commission was reviewing for third draft revisions on five 

points made in the last meeting to the language for Allendale Township. He mentioned 

that a tree canopy analysis was in the process of being completed for the purpose of 

determining what percentage to maintain as a minimum canopy coverage within the 

revision. 

 

Mr. Schut questioned the definition of tree size being 6” or greater in diameter, and the 

Commissioners agreed that the language adopted by Park Township was sufficient. He 
also recommended to the Commissioners that the tree canopy language apply to all 

projects. The initial consensus was that the clear cutting and tree canopy language 

should be drafted to be applied to any project prior to site plan approval. 

 

Chairperson Longcore recommended adding language to section three to potentially 

include “further, the cutting of any tree within a project prior to a site plan approval.” 

The Commissioners discussed whether the language should keep the 25% canopy 

coverage or create a range with Mr. Schut voicing concern that 25% was not enough.  



Planner Ransford explained that he had reviewed three recent site plans and hoped to 

have example site plans for a point of comparison in the coming weeks, and the 

Commissioners agreed they would review those when received. 

 

Mr. Zeinstra suggested replacing the first part entirely with “the Planning Commission 

may require an inventory” which was agreed upon by the Commissioners. 

 

Planner Ransford agreed to make the updates and added that he was also waiting to 

hear from Mr. Sullivan regarding the recent proposed language and would review any 

changes. 

 

2. Section 24.06H – Standards for Approval of Waste Disposal Facilities 

Planner Ransford recapped the previous discussion of the changes for the third draft 

revisions.  

 

Mr. Schut pointed out that item 2d should indicate “no more than” rather than “at least 

three feet apart.” Planner Ransford agreed to prepare revisions to the language for the 

Commission to review based on comments provided. Mr. Schut also requested dropping 

the “13 feet” space requirement. Mr. Zeinstra concurred, and consensus was reached 

with direction provided to Ransford. 
 

3. Section 24.06 J. - Standards for Approval on Building Appearance. 

Planner Ransford summarized the two items of revision from the prior review: to not 

apply the minimal glass requirement adjacent to residential areas and to parking areas 

except for customer parking. 

 

The Commissioners agreed the revisions had progressed and although Counsel Sullivan 

would still be reviewing the revisions, they did not anticipate there would be significant 

changes, thus a Public Hearing could be set. 

B. Master Plan – Map 

Planner Ransford recapped the work on the existing base map and the six changes the 

Commission had requested. Relative to the November 2020 meeting, he had worked on 

clarification to the master plan classification and zoning ordinance district table. He 

concluded this could only be done through amending the zoning district names which 

would prove difficult. He explained once the Master Plan was finalized, the plan and 

supporting documents could be reviewed and a decision made to make those 

amendments if necessary. 

 

The Commissioners agreed that the map met the overall expectations. Mr. Zuniga noted 

some areas with possible re-zoning changes. The Commissioners discussed these and 

clarified the changes needing to be updated. Direction was provided to Ransford to 

revise the map accordingly and proceed with the next step in the process. Ransford 

indicated that he would bundle all of the text together with the maps and return the 

entire draft document to the Planning Commission for further review.  

 

 



10. Second Public Comment 

Chairperson Longcore opened the public comment section for non-public hearing items. Kelli 

McGovern facilitated the public comments beginning with the callers, proceeding to 

participants using the web or app. Callers and participants were recognized, but no public 

comments were made. Chairperson Longcore closed the public comment section.  

 

11. Township Board Reports 

Mr. Zeinstra reported updates to Department Heads in Assessing, Finance, and Human 

Resources. The Board also approved a new Township Business Registration for maintaining 

all new businesses and contact information, as well as the PUD Amendment for Hidden 

Shores West. 

 

12. Commissioner and Staff Comments 

Mr. Zuniga asked for clarification about the use of decorative blocks for sidewalks per the 

Township ordinance, and Planner Ransford confirmed it was permissible. 

 

13. Chairperson Longcore adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 

Next meeting Monday, April 5, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 

Planning Commission Minutes respectfully submitted by Lora Richmond 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Deputy Clerk Notification 
 
Dear Board of Trustees, 

 

I would like to once again sincerely thank you for the approval of the full-time hybrid 

position of Deputy Clerk/Community Coordinator. I am writing this letter to inform you that the 

current Deputy Clerk, Denise Wiersma, has declined the offer of the full-time Deputy 

Clerk/Community Coordinator position. 

 During my time here, Denise has been a tremendous help. Her diligent work ethic and 

sincere willingness to help wherever she can have been a blessing. I could not have done it 

without her! I am so grateful for all of her assistance during our time working in the Clerk’s 

office together. It is with deep regret that I inform you Denise will be stepping down from her 

appointment as Deputy Clerk effective April 13, 2021. She will continue to serve the citizens of 

Allendale in her role in the Finance Department.   

Sincerely,  
 

 

Jody Hansen 
Allendale Township Clerk 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Deputy Clerk Appointment Notification 
 
Dear Board of Trustees,  

 

I am pleased to announce, effective April 13, 2021, Elizabeth Szymanski will be 

appointed as Allendale Township Deputy Clerk.  

Elizabeth has been working at Allendale Township for almost two years in the capacity 

of Administrative Assistant. Since my time here, I have witnessed her dedication to helping our 

community. Her passion to serve is evident in her work ethic and caring attention to detail. In 

her role as Deputy Clerk, Ms. Szymanski will assist in ensuring the Clerk’s office is as efficient 

and effective as possible. Day to day operations will include assisting with: record maintenance; 

ensuring accurate townships voter files- which exceed 10,000; election coordination, 

publications, meeting minutes, special notices, assisting customers and much more. I am very 

fortunate and excited to welcome Elizabeth to this new role. I look forward to working with her 

and developing a strong partnership as we continue to serve Allendale Township.   

Sincerely,  
 

 

Jody Hansen 
Allendale Township Clerk 
 











































 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Township Internship Recommendation- Colton Hyble  
Prepared by Lydale Weaver 

On 4/6/2021 
 
Board of Trustees: 

 

We have reviewed applications for the Internship position posted within the Township.  The 

panelist involved in the interview process included: Adam Elenbaas, Township Supervisor; Jody Hansen, 

Township Clerk; Kevin Yeoman, Project Coordinator; and Lydale Weaver, HR Specialist. The hiring panel 

unanimously recommends Colton Hyble for the 13 week internship position. 

Mr. Hyble brings impressive leadership experience to Allendale, including a recent election on 

the Leadership Council for GVSU Football. His drive for success is evident in various honors and awards 

earned such as: Dean’s List, Grand Valley State University; GLIAC Academic Excellence Honoree, GVSU 

Football; Valedictorian- Sacred Heart Academy, and many more. His previous work experience provided 

him a well- rounded skill set including customer service skills, time management expertise, and team 

collaboration. Mr. Hyble currently attends Frederik Meijer Honors College, Grand Valley State University 

and is a member of the GVSU Football team.  

We recommend bringing Mr. Hyble on board at the starting wage of $12.00 per hour. We look 

forward to welcoming Colton Hyble to our team here at Allendale Charter Township. 

 
 

Respectfully,  
Lydale Weaver 
HR Specialist 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Community Coordinator- Elizabeth Szymanski 
Prepared by Lydale Weaver 

On 4/5/2021 
 
Board of Trustees: 

 

An internal hiring announcement for the Community Coordinator position was posted. 

After careful consideration, we recommend Elizabeth Szymanski for the position. 

Ms. Szymanski has served the citizens of Allendale for over 23 months in the capacity of 

Administrative Assistant. Her genuine smile and helpful demeanor have greeted numerous 

guests of the township. Ms. Szymanski has proven time and again that she is always willing to 

go above and beyond in her role. She has tackled many projects outside the scope of her job 

description to help streamline processes and assist her teammates. Her love of this community 

and dedication to our citizens make her the perfect candidate as Community Coordinator.  

With her internal experience as the township Administrative Assistant, office support 

skills, exceptional organization and prioritization skills, and diligently care for our guest, we 

recommend bringing Ms. Szymanski on board at the starting salary of $37,918.40. We look 

forward to welcoming Elizabeth Szymanski into her new role as Allendale Township’s 

Community Coordinator.  

 
 

Respectfully,  
Lydale Weaver 
HR Specialist 



Proposal for Codification Services 

PREPARED FOR: 

Charter Township of Allendale, Michigan 

PREPARED BY: 

MARCIA CLIFFORD, ESQ. 
CODIFICATION ACCOUNT MANAGER 

mclifford@generalcode.com 
800.836.8834 

DATE: 
March 16, 2021 

(Valid for six months) 
 
 

mailto:mclifford@generalcode.com


 

 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary .....................................................................2 

General Code, America’s Next-Generation Codifier ..................4 

The General Code Recommended Solution and Process.........5 

Project Materials...........................................................................9 

Investment Details and Options ................................................10 

Performance and Payment Schedule .......................................12 

Authorization and Agreement ....................................................13 

Appendix .....................................................................................14 

Michigan Communities We Serve........................................ 14 

Municipal Contacts................................................................ 15 

eCode360 Platform ............................................................... 16 

Additional Online Services ................................................... 19 

Formatting & Style ................................................................ 20 

Ongoing Code Maintenance................................................. 22 



 

  2 
 

Executive Summary 
A thorough review of your request has given us a better understanding of your unique needs and 
helped us determine ways that we can partner with you to make the Charter Township of 
Allendale’s Code a more useful and effective resource for your community. The executive 
summary below serves as an overview for building a collaborative codification solution that can 
help the Charter Township achieve its goals. 

Situation Analysis 
The Charter Township of Allendale has not yet codified its legislation. As a result, your community 
may not be able to easily find the Charter Township’s laws, and your legislation may contain 
inconsistencies, errors and outdated information that could potentially affect enforceability and 
alignment with relevant state statutes.  

It is our understanding that the Charter Township would like to codify its legislation, including a 
comprehensive review, to include all legislation of a general and permanent nature to Ordinance 
No. 2020-8. This process would ensure that legislation is up-to-date and is in line with state 
statutes and the current needs of your constituents, in addition to making the overall Code 
consistent in organization, format, style, and content.  

The Charter Township would also like to provide access to the Code and make it easier for 
constituents and staff to find information by implementing a fully searchable online version of its 
Code, housed on our unparalleled eCode360 platform. 

Our Solution 
Our comprehensive codification solution for Allendale includes: 

> Create a Code 
General Code will provide the Charter Township with a Code that is clear and easy for 
your community to access and use.  

> An Editorial and Legal Analysis 
This process will identify conflicts, redundancies and inconsistencies in the Code and 
enable you to incorporate the necessary revisions to ensure that your Code is enforceable 
and fully complies with state statutes. 

> An online Code housed on our innovative eCode360 platform  
Created for a variety of users, eCode360 makes the complete current text of your Code 
available online in a format that is easy for your community to use and is fully searchable. 

> 1 custom printed Code book, with an option for additional printed volumes  
We will provide you with 1 fully customized print copy of your new Code, with additional 
copies as requested. 

  



 

 3 

Solution Benefits 
A comprehensive codification solution from General Code will: 

1. Deliver a Code that is always accessible to the public and up-to-date 

2. Help you keep Allendale’s Code enforceable  

3. Improve transparency with constituents  

4. Save Allendale’s staff time and resources by empowering constituents to find Code 
information independently 

Who Benefits? 
1. Constituents—Citizens will be able to find and use laws in a comprehensive, up-to-date 

and understandable format 

2. Staff—All staff members will be able to gather the information they need to answer 
questions from both citizens and other municipal officials 

3. Planners/Developers—Your new Code will provide a clear view of existing regulations 
and make it easier to determine the impact of proposed changes and amendments on 
development and growth initiatives 

4. Attorneys—Legal staff can draft and amend legislation more efficiently by using 
eCode360 to research similar laws that other communities have passed 

Allendale’s Investment 
The price of General Code’s recommended solution will be $7,642. 

A detailed breakdown of the investment and available options can be found in the Investment 
Details and Options section on page 9. 

 

  



 

 4 

General Code, America’s Next-Generation Codifier 
When local governments and constituents work well together, shared ideas and diverse talents can 
be focused where they need to be – on the community’s common interests and vision for the 
future. At General Code, we focus on simplifying the ways that local governments and their 
constituents find, access, and share information by innovating forward-thinking technologies and 
processes. By intelligently connecting vital code information in a digital environment, communities 
can work better together to more effectively overcome challenges and create opportunities for 
growth.  From online municipal codes to interactive zoning maps, it is our goal to empower 
everyone in our client communities to rise, transform, and thrive. 

We would be proud to partner with your community, too.  

Our Experience 
For over 55 years, General Code has worked with more than 3,200 communities to build, maintain, 
and publish Codes that are clear, accessible, and easy-to-use. We have assembled a staff of 
highly trained project managers, editorial assistants, attorneys, legal editors, production staff, 
account managers, training specialists, service representatives, and software engineers that have 
unique expertise in codification. With backgrounds in municipal law and local government and an 
average of 15 years of hands-on experience working with municipalities, every segment of our 
team is uniquely qualified to partner with your community.  

A Member of the ICC Family of Solutions 
With a worldwide membership of 64,000, International Code Council (ICC) is the global leader in 
developing model codes and standards used in the design, build, and compliance process to 
construct safe, sustainable, affordable, and resilient structures and communities. Most U.S. 
communities and many global markets choose the International Codes.   

General Code’s partnership with ICC strategically aligns our companies’ like-minded missions, 
values and long-standing commitment to building strong partnerships with local governments. It 
also gives General Code even greater capacity to build on our portfolio of municipality-focused 
solutions by tapping into the expanded resources and global reach of ICC. 

Our Technical Focus 
Technology has changed your community’s expectations about accessing and interacting with 
complex Code information. Therefore, we handle Code information differently. With General Code, 
your Code is more than just static text; using our proprietary publishing system, we store your 
Code as dynamic data, making it easy to update and present in multiple ways that meet your staff’s 
and community’s needs. Using the data from your Code as a basis, General Code provides an 
ever-expanding suite of seamless solutions that save time and simplify how you serve your 
community.  

Our Process 
General Code’s process workflow is highly collaborative, allowing you to engage with a Code 
consultant at every key stage of the codification process. We guide you through each phase of the 
process to keep you informed and help the project stay on track. Our Code consultants are 
invested in working with local governments and strive to ensure that your Code improves 
transparency within your community while accurately reflecting your laws.  

 



 

 5 

The General Code Recommended Solution and Process 
Below is an outline of the process for completing your codification project.  

Project Launch 
General Code will consult with Allendale’s designated contact person to review the project 
generally and to clarify any initial questions for both General Code and the Charter Township. To 
begin the project, the Charter Township shall provide the source materials for the new Code. For 
more detail, see the source materials listed on page 9.  

Organizational Analysis  
We will prepare an Organizational Analysis of your legislation for the Charter Township to review, 
which will include a proposed Table of Contents of the Code and a listing of legislation reviewed, 
along with questions about any missing material and adoption dates as well as any other questions 
pertaining to the completeness of materials being reviewed. The Charter Township will review the 
Organizational Analysis and make whatever changes it feels are necessary. An editor will 
incorporate the feedback received into the project and move forward to prepare the Manuscript and 
the Editorial and Legal Analysis. 

Editorial and Legal Analysis with Manuscript 
We will prepare a Manuscript using the materials provided by the Charter Township. The 
Manuscript organizes your legislation into a logical system of chapters arranged alphabetically by 
subject matter. At this step we will incorporate amendments into the Manuscript, noting repealed or 
superseded material. The resulting Manuscript will show exactly the legislation that is currently in 
effect.  

To accompany your Manuscript, we will prepare an Editorial and Legal Analysis for your review. 
Your project team will do a thorough review and analysis of your legislation and provide specific 
recommendations and input for improvement. The Analysis will be presented in a progressive 
format with option sets to guide the user in the decision-making process. Charter Township 
officials, including the Charter Township Attorney, will have the final decision-making authority for 
the resolution of any and all issues. 

The Editorial and Legal Analysis will include the following: 

> Identification of duplications, conflicts and inconsistencies between or within various 
sections of the Code 

> Identification of duplications, conflicts and inconsistencies with Michigan statutes 

> Any practical recommendations to make your legislation more enforceable 

> Suggestions regarding fines, fees and penalties 

> Suggestions on ways to modernize your legislation 

  



 

 6 

Your Responsibilities 
The Charter Township will review the Editorial and Legal Analysis and make the final decisions on 
any changes that are deemed necessary. All final decisions regarding the sufficiency of the 
legislation which is to be codified, and any changes to be made to said legislation, shall be the 
province of the Charter Township officials and the Charter Township Attorney. 

A review period is set by the performance schedule. We stress the importance of staying within the 
allotted time period to avoid disruptions in the production process and delays in the delivery of the 
Code. Our staff attorney, Marcia Clifford, is available to meet with the Charter Township to discuss 
the Editorial and Legal Analysis at no charge, upon request by the Charter Township. 

eCode360 Code Review 
eCode360 Code Review is a searchable online repository that houses your Code Manuscript and 
Editorial and Legal Analysis during the review stages of the codification process. When the 
Manuscript and Editorial and Legal Analysis are ready for review, General Code will activate your 
Code Review site and provide your review committee with a link to a secure online version of your 
in-process Code and the supporting documents, which could include the Code Project Contract, 
Organizational Analysis, Code Adoption Information, and Disposition List. Code Review allows 
users to reference and search relevant Code sections online as you answer questions and work 
through conflicts, duplications and inconsistencies within your Code. As the project continues, 
additional secure drafts will be available on your Code Review site, making the review process 
easy and clear. Upon completion of the project, your Code Review site will be replaced by your 
eCode360 site and will house the adopted version of your Code, which will be made available to 
the public. The posting of eCode360 Code Review is considered the first posting of eCode360. 

Final Editing of the Manuscript and Submission of the Draft 
Once the Editorial and Legal Analysis is returned, an editor will begin the final editing process. 
During this time, we will: 

> Edit the text to incorporate any revisions and additions previously approved in the Editorial 
and Legal Analysis phase 

> Update the Table of Contents listing all chapters and articles included in the Code, as 
applicable 

> Include cross-references and Editor's Notes, as required, and add historical notations 
indicating the source and date of adoption of each enactment 

> Proofread all copy to correct typographical and spelling errors 

Using Code Review, General Code will submit a Draft of the Code for final review by the Charter 
Township. With the submission of the Draft, the editorial work on your project will be completed; 
therefore, if the Charter Township requires any additional changes, further charges will apply. 

  



 

 7 

Prepare Final Deliverables 
Upon approval to proceed with the publication of your Code, we will prepare the following final 
deliverables:  

> A Comprehensive Index  
We will provide you with an index that is designed to let you quickly and easily locate 
information in the Code 

> A Disposition List  
Your Code will include a Disposition List that sets forth—in chronological order—the 
subject matter, date of adoption and disposition of each item of new legislation reviewed 
with the project. It will also indicate whether those items are included in or omitted from 
the Code. 

> Code Adoption Legislation 
We will prepare adoption legislation for the proposed Code and give it to the Charter 
Township Attorney for review and enactment by the governing body. The Code should be 
adopted as soon as possible to formally enact the many revisions authorized by the 
Charter Township and establish the Code as the permanent enforceable system of law in 
the Charter Township. If the Code adoption legislation is enacted and returned to us 
within 90 days of submission, we will include this material in the Code free of charge. 
Once the Code is adopted, it can be amended directly to change, add or delete material. 

Publish a Secure Online Code with eCode360 
Once the final deliverables have been prepared, General Code will make your eCode360 site 
available to the public. eCode360 is a secure, reliable online platform created specifically to house 
codified laws and municipal documents. Built with a variety of user needs in mind, eCode360 will 
provide Allendale’s staff, citizens and businesses with unparalleled flexibility to quickly access and 
search your Code on a variety of desktop and mobile devices.  

eCode360 Benefits:  
A centralized solution—laws, regulations and related documents are integrated into a dynamic, 
centralized resource 

Simple to use—eCode360 is easy and intuitive and offers powerful time-saving features  

Always up-to-date—We will update your eCode360 site with each supplement to your Code. 

A trusted, “go-to” resource—Empower staff to answer questions with clarity and confidence 

Always evolving—We consistently release innovative functionality based on communities’ needs 

  



 

 8 

eCode360 Service Level included in this Project: Standard   
eCode360 

Lite 
Standard 
eCode360 

Premium 
eCode360 

Annual Maintenance Fee $695  $995  $1,195  
New Laws x x x 

Easy and Flexible Searching x x x 
Dynamic Table of Contents x x x 

Email or Share Links x x x 
Printing x x x 

Bookmarking Searches x x x 
Archive View x x x 

"Sticky" Table Headers x x x 
Administrative Tools x x x 

Translate x x x 
eCode360 Search App x x x 

Linked New Laws  x x 
Public and Private Notes   x x 

Sample Legislation (Multicode Search)  x x 
Download to Word 

 
x x 

Download to PDF    x 
New Laws Indicator   x 

Advanced Search   x 
Customizable Titles   x 

eAlert     x 
Public Documents Module     x 

For more information about eCode360 and the service levels we offer, see page 16. 

Publish a Custom Printed Code  
General Code will publish 1 printed copy of your Code in a high-quality, custom-imprinted post 
binder. The Code pages will be designed in an 8 ½-by-11-inch page size, using 11-point Times 
New Roman font in a single-column format on 100% recycled paper.  

General Code lets you customize the look of your final printed Code binder, including the color of 
your binder (blue, dark red, green, brown, black or gray) and the color of the silk-screen lettering on 
the binder cover (white, silver or gold). We can also emboss the Charter Township’s Seal on the 
front and spine for added impact at no additional charge. Each copy of the Code will include a set 
of 15 tab dividers for individual customization and will also be serial-numbered for easy 
identification. 

Provide Ongoing Code Maintenance 
The codification process is not truly over when your new Code is delivered. Your community will 
change and grow, and ultimately, your Code will evolve with it. In order to maintain your Code as 
an accurate and reliable resource, it is important that the Charter Township keeps the Code up-to-
date after initial publication. General Code’s supplementation services are designed to make the 
process easy, fast and accurate. 

For more information about General Code’s Supplementation Services, see page 22.  



 

 9 

Project Materials 
Source Materials 
The Charter Township of Allendale has provided General Code with the following documents, 
which will be used as the source materials for the recodification project: 

> Uncodified legislation adopted from Ordinance No. 1995-1 to Ordinance No. 2020-8 

> Uncodified 1988 Zoning Ordinance, Articles 1 through 33, as updated through Ordinance 
No. 2020-5 (inclusion of this legislation in the Codification project is optional) 

Project Scope 
This proposal and the scope of this project consider only the legislation submitted for review as 
listed above. The processing, review, and inclusion of any materials not submitted are outside the 
project scope as proposed and therefore may be subject to additional charges. We request that 
Allendale set up a process to routinely send any new legislation upon adoption. This additional 
legislation will be included in the Code up to the point where the editorial work has been completed 
and will be subject to an additional charge at the end of the project. 

Special Considerations 
General Code has identified the following specific special considerations that will be addressed by 
our staff as the project progresses: 

> Please note that inclusion of the Zoning Ordinance is optional. If the Zoning Ordinance is 
not included, we will include a reference page in the printed Code book, indicating that the 
legislation is on file in the Clerk’s office, and will include a link on eCode360 to the 
uncodified Zoning Ordinance (if applicable). 

> Please note that if the Charter Township decides to include the Zoning Ordinance, the 
Charter Township will need to provide General Code the original JPEG file of the image in 
Article 24. 

 



 

 10 

Investment Details and Options 
Codification Project Price  $7,642 
Services included with the codification project: 

> eCode360 Code Review Webinar 

> Creation of a New Code, with Project Scope Including Legislation to 
 Ordinance No. 2020-8 

> Editorial Work 

> Proofreading 

> Shipping 

Initial deliverables included with the codification project: 
> Organizational Analysis 

> eCode360 Code Review 

> Editorial and Legal Analysis 

> Manuscript 

> Draft 

Final deliverables included with the codification project: 
> Standard eCode360  

> eCode360 Search App 

> Publication of 1 Code Volume in a Standard Imprinted Post Binder 

> Comprehensive Index 

> Disposition List 

> Customizable Tabs 

> Code Adoption Legislation 

Administrative Fees $0 
General Code does not charge administrative fees; you will only pay for products and services you 
actually use 

Optional Components 
The following is available to you at an additional charge: 

$3,842 Codification of Zoning Ordinance 

$(300) Substitute eCode360 Lite instead of Standard eCode360  
Annual Maintenance: $695 

$200 Upgrade to Premium eCode360, Including PubDocs Module  
Annual Maintenance: $1,195 

Please note: Code books in addition to the 1 Code book included in the Codification Project Price 
may be ordered through the publication date of your Code. Pricing is available upon request. 



 

 11 

Ongoing Services 
Standard eCode360 Annual Maintenance  $995 
The maintenance fee is an annual recurring flat fee that begins one year from the initial posting of 
eCode360. Therefore, we recommend that the Charter Township budget for this service each year. 
The fee covers annual licensing, web hosting, and posting of new legislation between regular Code 
supplements. Please note that this does not include the cost for codifying new legislation. 

Future Supplementation Services  
General Code will provide supplementation services at a rate of $18.00 per page for a period of 
three years from date of publication.  

Tables Graphics and Charts   $10.00 per change 

Thereafter, fees may be increased annually consistent with the Producer Price Index for Publishing 
Industries, published by the U.S. Dept. of Labor. 



 

 12 

Performance and Payment Schedule 
Deliverable Delivery Date Payment Milestone 

New Code Project 
Launch Within 30 days of contract signing 20% of total project price due  

Submission of the 
Organizational 

Analysis 

Within 80 days of contract signing and 
receipt of the materials; the Charter 
Township has 30 days for review 

20% of total project price due  

Submission of the 
Editorial and Legal 

Analysis with 
Manuscript 

Within 180 days of receipt of the 
responses to the Organizational 

Analysis; the Charter Township has 
100 days for review 

30% of total project price due  

Submission of Draft 

Within 145 days of receipt of 
responses to the Editorial and Legal 
Analysis; the Charter Township has 

45 days to review 

20% of total project price due 

Delivery of the Code Within 40 days of approval to proceed 
with the publication of the Code 

Balance of total project price 
due 

Performance schedule reflects only business days excluding legal holidays. 



 

 13 

Authorization and Agreement  
The Charter Township of Allendale, Codification, March 16, 2021 

Codification Project Price  $7,642 

Optional Components 
___ Codification of Zoning Ordinance $3,842 

___ Substitute eCode360 Lite instead of Standard eCode360 $(300) 
Annual Maintenance: $695 

___ Upgrade to Premium eCode360, Including PubDocs Module $200 
Annual Maintenance: $1,195 

 
Total Investment 
Including all of the options selected above, the total project price will be: $ …………… 

 

The Charter Township of Allendale, Michigan, hereby agrees to the procedures outlined above, 
and to General Code's Codification Terms and Conditions, which are available at 
http://www.generalcode.com/terms-and-conditions-documents/. 

Charter Township of Allendale, Ottawa County, Michigan 

By:  ___________________________________  Witnessed by: ____________________________ 

Title:  _________________________________  Title:  ___________________________________ 

Date: __________________________________  Date:  ___________________________________ 

GENERAL CODE, LLC 

By:  ___________________________________  Witnessed by: ____________________________ 

Title:  _________________________________  Title:  ___________________________________ 

Date: __________________________________  Date:  ___________________________________ 

This document serves both as a proposal and as an agreement. To accept this proposal and delegate 
authority to General Code to administer the codification project, complete the form above, including 
authorized signatures. A signed copy of this agreement will be mailed back to Allendale for its 
records.  

Scan and email the completed form to contracts@generalcode.com. You may also fax the completed 
form to General Code at (585) 328-8189 or return it by mail to General Code, 781 Elmgrove Road, 
Rochester, NY 14624.   

http://www.generalcode.com/terms-and-conditions-documents/


 

 14 

Appendix 
Michigan Communities We Serve 
For more than a half century, we have had the pleasure of forming long-term, collaborative working 
relationships with municipalities of all types and sizes across the country. Below are some of the 54 
municipalities in Michigan that have trusted General Code to codify their laws:  

Berrien County 
Charter Township of Watervliet 
City of Bridgman 
City of New Buffalo 
Three Oaks Township 
Township of Buchanan 
Village of Baroda 
Village of Michiana 
Village of Stevensville 
Branch County 
City of Coldwater 
Calhoun County 
Nottawaseppi Huron Band of the 
Potawatomi 
Cass County 
Village of Cassopolis 
Eaton County 
Village of Bellevue 
Grand Traverse County 
Grand Traverse Band 
Ingham County 
Charter Township of Meridian 
Jackson County 
Blackman Charter Township 
Township of Spring Arbor 
Kalamazoo County 
City of Kalamazoo 
Village of Richland 
Village of Vicksburg 
Kent County 
Cascade Charter Township 
Township of Cannon 
Lapeer County 
City of Lapeer 
Livingston County 
Township of Putnam 

Macomb County 
Charter Township of Chesterfield 
City of Roseville 
Village of New Haven 
Midland County 
Charter Township of Midland 
Monroe County 
City of Monroe 
Muskegon County 
Township of Blue Lake 
Oakland County 
Charter Township of Oakland 
City of Royal Oak 
Ottawa County 
City of Holland 
Township of Park 
Village of Spring Lake 
Roscommon County 
Township of Denton 
Saginaw County 
Charter Township of Buena Vista 
Shiawassee County 
City of Corunna 
St. Clair County 
City of Port Huron 
Township of East China 
Van Buren County 
Township of Lawrence 
Township of Paw Paw 
Washtenaw County 
Charter Township of Pittsfield 
Wayne County 
Charter Township of Huron 
City of Rockwood 
Township of Grosse Ile 
Township of Northville 



 

 15 

Municipal Contacts 
The following municipalities have completed similar projects with General Code. Please feel free to 
contact anyone on the list. 

City of Holland, Michigan 
Kathy Grimm, Clerk 
616-355-1301 
k.grimm@cityofholland.com 
eCode360: http://www.ecode360.com/HO3221 

City of Bridgman, Michigan 
Allyson Holm, Clerk  
269-465-5144 
aholm@bridgman.org 
eCode360: http://www.ecode360.com/BR3850 

City of Kalamazoo, Michigan 
Scott Borling, Clerk 
269-337-8792 
borlings@kalamazoocity.org 
eCode360: http://www.ecode360.com/KA2666 

Township of Paw Paw, Michigan 
Rebecca Payne, Deputy Clerk 
269-657-4340 
dclerk@pawpawtownship.org 
eCode360: http://www.ecode360.com/PA3846 

Township of New Buffalo, Michigan 
Judith Zabicki, Clerk 
269-469-1011 
jhzabicki@newbuffalotownship.org 
eCode360: http://www.ecode360.com/NE4155 

 
 

  

mailto:k.grimm@cityofholland.com
http://www.ecode360.com/HO3221
mailto:aholm@bridgman.org
http://www.ecode360.com/BR3850
mailto:borlings@kalamazoocity.org
http://www.ecode360.com/KA2666
mailto:dclerk@pawpawtownship.org
http://www.ecode360.com/PA3846
mailto:jhzabicki@newbuffalotownship.org
http://www.ecode360.com/NE4155


 

 16 

eCode360 Platform 
Our eCode360 platform is designed specifically to house codified laws and municipal information. 
eCode360’s intuitive design, responsive navigation, and robust search functionality drive 
performance and user satisfaction. 

Simple for Everyone 
eCode360 offers a user experience that’s simple and intuitive. Our easy-to-use, uncluttered 
interface allows users to access, search and share Code sections with incredible speed and 
precision on desktop and mobile devices. It provides the power to communicate information to 
everyone in your municipality like never before. 

24/7/365 Access and Security 
General Code supports your community through technologies that transform your users’ 
experience and empower your community to access, navigate and share your Code in exciting new 
ways. Our eCode360 platform was designed by our own in-house team of software engineers, 
experts who understand the importance and value of simplifying how you access and use your 
Code, generating an impressive 71,000 users a day while boasting an incredible uptime average of 
99.9%. eCode360 is available 24/7, 365 days a year. 

eCode360 is hosted on Amazon Web Services (AWS)’s EC2, which has an uptime guarantee of 
99.99%. Our servers are backed up using IT industry best practices, taking advantage of multiple 
redundancies and regions within AWS. In addition to a robust disaster recovery plan, we have 
taken steps to avoid disaster by building eCode360 from the ground up to be secure and scalable. 
The system is designed and engineered to minimize the possibility of intrusion and uses multiple 
leading-edge technologies to harden and secure the service.  

eCode360 is our proprietary platform, and does not require any Folio installation or licenses.  

Maintenance and Updates 
eCode360 is maintenance- free for our users. General Code employs a team of software 
developers, web application developers and system administrators who maintain and update the 
platform to give you an intuitive and seamless experience with your Code. Our most recent 
enhancements can be found at https://www.generalcode.com/happyecode/. 

Free Introductory eCode Webinar for Municipal Staff 
Our introductory eCode webinar lets you work online with an experienced Training Specialist who 
can demonstrate eCode360’s powerful tools and offer step-by-step guidance to help you use the 
Code. A great resource for municipal employees who want to help their constituents! 

“Multi-purpose” your Code Content—and better serve your community. 
Give departments and individuals within your municipality the ability to view and use the specific 
Code information they need—when they need it. With eCode360 Content Export, we export your 
Code’s content to an Excel or CSV file. From there, the file can be imported into systems other 
departments are already using where information from your Code can be quickly viewed and used. 
This saves others—especially staff who serve the public in the field—the time and effort of 
searching the entire Code manually to find the particular section they need. For more information 
about our Content Export services, please contact us at sales@generalcode.com.  

  

https://www.generalcode.com/happyecode/
mailto:sales@generalcode.com


 

 17 

eCode360 Service Levels 
eCode360 Lite includes the following features: 
New Laws Between regular Code supplements, General Code will temporarily post 

PDF copies of new legislation to your online Code 
Custom Settings for 
Admin Users  

Control the look of your eCode360 by selecting custom colors and 
accents, and uploading a custom banner or photo 

Easy and Flexible 
Searching Search by key words, phrases, section numbers and more 

Electronic Index A comprehensive list of key words and phrases to speed searching 
Dynamic Table of 
Contents 

Users can find the information they need and see their current location 
with a table of contents that moves as users browse 

Email or Share Links  Email a link to a specific Code section or share via social media 
Printing Print with user-friendly functionality and a variety of user options 
Bookmarking 
Searches Save “favorites” to quickly return to sections of the Code 

Archive View View a permanent archive of your Code, updated with each supplement 
“Sticky” Table 
Headers  Table headers remain stationary as you scroll 

Translate Users can view your Code in more than 100 additional languages 
eCode360 Search App Use your mobile device to search your Code 
Standard eCode360 includes all of the above Lite features plus:  

Linked New Laws As new legislation is posted, we will add links from the New Laws 
section of eCode360 to the affected Code chapters or articles 

Public and Private 
Notes Create personalized links and annotations within the Code 

Multicode Search 
Search across multiple Codes by municipality, geographic region, 
government type or population to find sample legislation or other Code 
content for zoning use, legal cases or historical research 

Download to Word Administrative users can download Code text to a Microsoft Word 
document to edit and track changes when drafting new legislation 

Premium eCode360 includes all of the above Lite and Standard features plus: 
Download to PDF Public users can directly download Code text to a PDF document 

New Laws Indicator Code Change Indicators help users identify sections of your Code that 
have been changed and provide links to the new legislation 

Advanced Search 
Search across the Code, Public Documents, New Laws and Notes using 
an intuitive query tool and filtering system to quickly pinpoint the most 
relevant information 

Customizable Titles Administrative users can add customized titles and comments to your 
legislation in New Laws 

eAlert Public users can sign up to receive notifications of changes in the Code 
PubDocs Module Post non-Code documents along with your online Code 

 



 

 18 

Sample eCode360 Screens  



 

 19 

Additional Online Services 
MapLink™ powered by ZoningHub™ 
MapLink is a Visual Zoning service that makes it easier for business and property owners, 
planners, developers, and constituents to find the information they need in your community’s 
Zoning ordinance by presenting Zoning Code data from eCode360 in an interactive online map. 
MapLink users can click on a map to view details about permitted uses and answer questions such 
as, “Where can I open my business?” and “What can I do with my property?” With just a few clicks, 
users interested in economic development can view dimensional requirements, allowable uses, 
and zoning districts, zoom to an individual parcel to examine its requirements, or search for 
properties based on land use. By making it easier for users to find the information they need for 
their development projects, they are more likely to open their businesses in the Charter Township, 
which can help grow your community. 

MapLink uses your municipality’s existing GIS map information and seamlessly presents data from 
eCode360, so your interactive map clearly and accurately displays your essential Zoning elements. 
When a Code supplement including a Zoning change is completed and posted to eCode360, your 
Code data is simultaneously updated in MapLink, ensuring that users are always working with the 
most accurate requirements.  

eCode360® Enhanced Graphics™ 
eCode360 Enhanced Graphics can help drive economic development in your community by 
presenting an online Zoning Code that is clear, easy to understand and always up-to-date. 
Enhanced Graphics offers zoning specific features like integrated tables that allow users to view 
tables in context, multi-column layout options to accommodate natural image placement, 
searchable image captions, color coding to create easier navigation, and high-quality graphics. 
Every community is unique, so we also offer custom solutions tailored to suit your community’s 
specific needs.  

Custom Local Building Code 
Until now, no single publication has included both ICC I-Code building regulations and local 
amendments in an integrated form. Our CLBC solution will create a single central repository for 
your adopted Building Code regulations that is intuitive, searchable, and linked to your municipal 
Code. This solution will eliminate the need to separately manage state adopted I-Codes and your 
local amendments, and make your Building Code regulations available from anywhere at any time, 
even if the Charter Township only has one set of printed books. 

For more information on our additional online services please contact us at 
sales@generalcode.com  



 

 20 

Formatting & Style 
General Code takes pride in offering high-quality printed Code services. Our experience and 
attention to detail in the design and production of your Code go hand-in-hand with our approach to 
municipal partnerships. 

Organization 
The Code will be organized and divided into parts to accommodate different types of legislation. 
Typically Part I is made up of legislation of an administrative nature, namely, that dealing with the 
Charter Township’s departments, officers and employees; Part II is made up of the legislation that 
regulates the general public. Within each part, the various pieces of legislation will be organized 
into chapters, which will be arranged alphabetically by subject matter. For example, all legislation 
pertaining to the regulation of streets and sidewalks may be found in Part II, in the chapter entitled 
"Streets and Sidewalks." Wherever there are two or more pieces of legislation dealing with the 
same subject, they will be combined into a single chapter. In such chapters, the use of article 
designations will preserve the identity of the individual pieces of legislation. The Charter Township 
will have the opportunity to review and approve the organization of the Code. 

Table of Contents 
The Table of Contents lists the various chapters included in the Code and can be used to help 
locate desired provisions. Space will be reserved for later insertion of new material in its proper 
alphabetical sequence. Such space is accommodated in the body of the Code by breaks in the 
chapter numbering and in the page-numbering sequence between chapters.  

Pagination 
Each chapter forms an autonomous unit in the page-numbering system. The first page number in 
each chapter is the number of that chapter followed by a colon and the numeral "1." For example, 
Chapter 6 begins on page 6:1, Chapter 53 on page 53:1, etc. If a page were to be added between 
pages 53:2 and 53:3, it would be numbered 53:2.1. This system makes it possible to add or to change 
pages in any chapter without affecting pages in other chapters and to insert new chapters without 
affecting the existing organization.  

Scheme 
The scheme is the list of section titles that appears at the beginning of each chapter and precedes 
the text. These titles are written so that, taken together, they may be considered as a summary of 
the content of the chapter. Taken separately, each describes the content of a particular section. 
For ease of reference, section titles are repeated as section headings in the text. 

Section Numbering 
In a chapter-related section-numbering system, each section of every item of legislation is 
assigned a number that indicates both the number of the chapter in which the legislation is located 
and the location of the section within that chapter. For example, the first section of Chapter 6 is § 6-
1, while the fourth section of Chapter 53 is § 53-4. New sections can also be added between 
existing sections by using a decimal system. For example, if two sections are to be added between 
§§ 53-4 and 53-5, they will be numbered as §§ 53-4.1 and 53-4.2. 

 
 



 

 21 

Legislative Histories 
The legislative history for each chapter is located immediately following the scheme for that chapter. 
The history indicates the specific legislative source from which the chapter was derived, including 
the enactment number and the date of adoption. In the case of chapters containing parts or articles 
derived from more than one item of legislation, the source of each part or article is indicated in the 
text, under its title. Amendments to individual sections or subsections are indicated by boldfaced 
histories directly in the text. 

Editor's Notes 
Editor's Notes are used in the text to provide supplementary information and cross-references to 
related provisions in other chapters. 

Printed Code Sample Page 
 
  



 

 22 

Ongoing Code Maintenance 
Your Code is always evolving and is an investment you need to protect. 
Because your Code will evolve and grow with your community, the codification process is not truly 
over when your new Code is delivered. In order to maintain your community’s trust and reliance on 
your Code, General Code offers supplementation services that will help to keep your Code reliable, 
accurate and up-to-date. Our supplementation services are designed to make the process easy, 
fast and accurate.  In addition, General Code provides a free sample legislation service to 
municipalities we serve as well as regular legislative alerts to inform local governments of the latest 
trends in legislation that may affect their communities.   

Rapid Delivery 
Our average turnaround time for processing routine supplementation is between 4 and 6 weeks. 

Materials 
After the enactment of new legislation, the Charter Township can forward a copy to us by whatever 
method is most convenient.  

Online copies of the legislation can be sent via email to ezsupp@generalcode.com. Upon receipt, 
we will send you an email confirming that we have received your legislation. Should an alternative 
method of transmission be required for transferring large files, please contact us and we will 
provide the necessary information. 

General Code will hold legislation pending a pre-approved schedule, or begin the job, as directed 
by the Charter Township. Please note that charges for supplementation services are outside of the 
scope of this proposal and will be billed separately. An estimate of the charges applicable to a 
particular supplement is available upon request. 

Posting of New Laws 
Between regular Code supplements, General Code will temporarily post PDF copies within 1 to 2 
business days of receipt of new legislation to your online Code, to provide ready access to 
information until such time as the legislation can be codified through supplementation. If 
supplementation does not occur within one year of appending, General Code will remove the link to 
that new legislation.  

Schedule 
Code supplements will be provided on a schedule designed to meet the needs of Allendale. Typical 
schedules may be quarterly, semiannual, or annual, or upon authorization by the Charter 
Township. Updates to the electronic version of the Code can occur on a more frequent schedule 
than printed supplements if the Charter Township prefers. 

  



 

 23 

Editorial Work on Your Supplement 
The work on your supplement specifically focuses on the new legislation being incorporated with 
each supplement. For each supplement we provide project management, recordkeeping, 
processing, professional review of new legislation, and consult throughout the project. Our goal is 
to make the information easily accessible without altering in any way the meaning of what was 
originally adopted. The work on your supplement specifically focuses on the new legislation being 
incorporated with each supplement. As part of our process for new legislation, we will: 

> Acknowledge receipt of all materials 
> Verify adoption of all legislation, including date of action by governing body 

> Review legislation and distinguish between Code and non-Code material 
> Update record of legislation received and its disposition (Disposition List) 

> Request any missing legislation/missing pages 
> Determine proper placement of legislation within Code 
> Impose or utilize the adopted flexible section numbering system that allows for later 

changes 

> Create/modify chapter, article and/or section titles 
> Add historical annotations 

> Add any necessary cross references 
> Include editorial notes to sections that require additional explanation 

> Correct any misspellings so that searchability in eCode360 is not compromised 
> Impose a distinctive style for definitions, to aid Code user in quickly finding the meaning of 

a particular term 
> Maintain legislative integrity by following the original tables and graphics and, where 

necessary, improving the presentation so that the information contained therein is easily 
accessible 

> Impose standard internal section organizational hierarchy consistent with the rest of the 
Code 

> Impose standard style conventions consistent with the rest of the Code, i.e., number 
citation, capitalization, nonsubstantive grammar and punctuation, internal and statutory 
reference citation 

> Confirm accuracy of internal references; correct as necessary and appropriate 

> Confirm accuracy of statutory references; correct as necessary and appropriate 
> Read and review for missing wording; internal conflicts 

> Update ancillary Code pieces, such as the Table of Contents and chapter schemes, when 
necessary 

> Update Code Index 

> Create an Instruction Page so that Code holders can properly update the Code 
> Notify client of any issues and concerns noted and work together to determine appropriate 

resolution 



 

 24 

Printed Supplements 
Amendments to the printed Code occur in the form of printed supplement pages that are issued as 
replacement pages. Printed supplements include an updated Table of Contents, Disposition List, 
Index, text pages, and Instruction Page.  

Electronic Updates 
Amendments to the electronic version of the Code can be provided on their own schedule or can 
accompany printed supplements. Electronic updates will be incorporated into the Code, and a fully 
searchable, complete Code will be delivered online. 

Delivery 
Printed supplements to the Code will be delivered in bulk to Allendale, unless it chooses to utilize 
General Code's Distribution Services. The website will be updated in one to two business days. 



 

 

 
 



                   Administrative Assistant- Front Desk 
JOB TITLE: Administrative Assistant- Front Desk  
DEPARTMENT: Administration 
REPORTS TO: Township Supervisor 
POSITION TYPE: Full-Time; Hourly: $13.85 -$17.08; Salary: $28, 808 - $35,526.40 
EFFECTIVE DATE: April _____, 2021 

 
SUMMARY:  
The Township’s Administrative Assistant provides coverage at the front customer service desk. This position 
will report to the Township Supervisor and will support the community members visiting the Township Hall 
through excellent customer service as well as other administrative support and technical tasks.  
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 

• Receives payments for taxes, utility bills, assessments, etc. at the front desk while providing excellent 
customer service; 

• Assist walk-in customers by fulfilling or directing their requests to the appropriate person; 
• Answer all telephone calls to the general customer service line and transfer calls as necessary; 
• Assist with maintenance of the Township’s social media accounts as needed; 
• Process water and sewer payment agreements; 
• Assist with mailings, publications, notices, etc. and create and edit letters, reports, forms, permits and 

other documents as assigned; 
• Oversees pavilion rental and auditorium rental, including: scheduling, receiving payments, returning 

deposit checks, maintaining and updating the calendar; 
• Prepare outgoing mail, sort incoming mail, and distribute as necessary; 
• Maintain electronic door locking system; 
• Update shared calendars as necessary; 
• Process burn permits and temporary use of fire hydrant permits; 
• Update the outdoor bulletin board frequently wit new content throughout the year; 
• Maintain the front lobby and display literature about the community and its offerings; 
• Empty the drop box daily and distribute materials appropriately; 
• Create and distribute board/committee meeting date list; 
• Oversee maintenance of copy and fax machines, may assist in ordering stock supplies; 
• Serve as a notary public (obtain certification within first year if not already a notary when hired); 
• Process dog licenses 
• Digital retention projects of various township documents; 
• May process voter registration; 
• Serve as a Passport Agent (obtain certification within first year if not already an agent when hired); 
• Serve as support staff for all Departments within the Township; 

Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable qualified individuals with disabilities to perform these essential functions. 
 
REQUIRED SKILLS / ABILITIES: 
The ideal candidate must be committed to providing excellent customer service. The candidate must also be 
efficient and utilize excellent time management, have strong written and verbal communication, 
organizational skills, detail oriented and excel at prioritization.  Critical thinking, conflict resolution and 
problem- solving skills highly preferred. Must be self-motivated and able to self-direct with the ability to 
handle a variety of situations simultaneously.  
 



2 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS:  
Education:  A high school diploma or GED is required.  College level computer, accounting, 

typing and word processing desired.    
Experience:  Prior customer service or administrative work experience required. Payment 

processing experience and cash handling preferred.   
Licenses:  A valid Michigan’s Driver License.   

 
SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES:  
No supervisory responsibilities.  
 
WORKING CONDITIONS:  
Must be able to perform essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodations, including, but 
not limited to, visual and/or audiological appliances and devices to increase mobility.  The majority of work 
for this position is performed in a normal office environment, working Monday- Friday 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m.   
 
PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS:  
Typical sitting/standing for the duration of shifts while using computers/blue light electronics, some lifting 
of various office supplies and equipment. 
 
TRAVEL REQUIREMENTS:  
Very minimal travel requirements, mostly local and within Ottawa County. 
  
OTHER DUTIES:   
Please note this job description is intended to describe the general nature and level of work performed in 
this job.  It is not intended to provide an exhaustive list of all skills required in this job, nor is it intended to 
limit the authority of the Township Supervisor or any Township manager or supervisor to assign or direct 
the activities of employees under his or her direction.  Duties, responsibilities, and activities may change, or 
new requirements may be assigned, at any time, with or without notice.   
 
By signing below, I affirm that I have received a copy of this job description, read it, and have had an 
opportunity to have the job requirements, essential functions, and duties of this position explained to me.   

 
APPLICANT:   
 
_______________________________________ _______________________________________ ________________________ 
Name (Print)     Signature     Date  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

For Office Use Only:  

Received by:    ______________________________________ 

Date:             ______________________________________ 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Seasonal Maintenance Assistant Recommendation-Ross Mango and Matt Borst  
Prepared by Lydale Weaver 

On 4/12/2021 
 
Board of Trustees: 

 

We are looking to bring back two Seasonal Maintenance Assistants from last year.  Ross 

Mango and Matt Borst are both interested in coming back in a seasonal capacity.  Both made 

solid contributions last year and the team would like to see them back this year.  Ross and Matt 

will be with us for six months from their start date. 

We recommend bringing Ross on at $14.39 and Matt on at $15.04.  I look forward to 

having Ross and Matt for the season with Allendale Charter Township. 

 
 

Respectfully,  
Lydale Weaver 
HR Specialist 


	3-22-2021 Proposed Minutes.pdf
	PROPOSED
	PROCEEDINGS OF THE ALLENDALE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES
	MARCH SESSION- 2nd DAY

	General Code Allendale Cht Twp MI Type IC Proposal.pdf
	Executive Summary
	General Code, America’s Next-Generation Codifier
	The General Code Recommended Solution and Process
	Project Materials
	Investment Details and Options
	Performance and Payment Schedule
	Authorization and Agreement
	Appendix
	Michigan Communities We Serve
	Municipal Contacts
	eCode360 Platform
	Additional Online Services
	Formatting & Style
	Ongoing Code Maintenance



